Polycystic ovary syndrome: current status and future perspective

Erin K. Barthelmess¹, Rajesh K. Naz¹

¹Reproductive Immunology and Molecular Biology Lab, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, West Virginia University School of Medicine, Health Sciences Center, Morgantown, WV 26506-9186

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Methodology
- 4. Discussion
 - 4.1. Causes, risk factors, and diagnosis
 - 4.2. Associated health conditions
 - 4.2.1. Metabolic complications, obesity, and cardiovascular risk
 - 4.2.2. Neurological and psychological functions
 - 4.2.3. Cancer
 - 4.3. Infertility
 - 4.4. Treatment and management
- 5. Current Research and Future Perspective
 - 5.1. Diagnosis
 - 5.2. Obesity
 - 5.3 Genetics
 - 5.4. Immunology
 - 5.5. Evolutionary aspect
 - 5.6. Phenotype in men
 - 5.7. Treatment modalities
 - 5.7.1. Assisted reproductive technology (ART)
 - 5.7.2. Laparoscopic ovarian drilling (LOD)
 - 5.7.3. Metformin
 - 5.7.4. Oral contraceptive pills (OCPs)
 - 5.7.5. Dietary therapy
 - 5.8. Long-term effect
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. Reference

1. ABSTRACT

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a widespread reproductive disorder that encompasses many associated health conditions and has an impact on various processes. PCOS is metabolic depicted hyperandrogenism, polycystic ovaries, and anovulation. It increases the risk of insulin resistance (IR), type 2 diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. The etiology of the disease remains unclear, and the subjective phenotype makes a united diagnosis difficult among physicians. It seems to be a familial genetic syndrome caused by a combination of environmental and genetic factors. It can be linked with metabolic disorders in first-degree family members. PCOS is the cause of up to 30% of infertility in couples seeking treatment. Currently, there is no cure for PCOS. Despite the growing incidence of this syndrome, limited research has been done that encompasses the entirety of PCOS spectrum. In this review, the current status and possible future perspective will be discussed.

2. INTRODUCTION

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common reproductive and endocrinologic disorder found in 6-10% of the female population (1). The three main phenotype characteristics of this condition are hyperandrogenism, polycystic ovaries, and ovulatory dysfunction (2). This syndrome can also be associated with metabolic issues including obesity, insulin resistance (found in 60-80% of women with PCOS) (3), hyperinsulinemia, and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). PCOS is associated with cardiovascular problems, neurological and psychological effects on quality of life (including anxiety and depression), and breast and endometrial cancers. As many as 20% of women with infertility problems (including fecundability and early pregnancy loss) have been diagnosed with PCOS (4). It is often called the most common cause of anovulatory infertility in women (5). There is no known cause of PCOS, however there has been evidence that shows both environmental as well as genetic factors play a role in the etiology (6-8).

Recently, there has been an increase in interest in the field of PCOS research. In the past five years, there have been thousands of articles published concerning the different aspects and relationships regarding PCOS. Despite the high and increasing incidence of PCOS among the population, there are several aspects that remain ambiguous. Few studies have been conducted that grasp PCOS in its entire complexity.

Despite increased attention to PCOS, one of the most vital aspects of this disease is still highly disputed upon - the diagnosis. The etiology of this disease has not been well understood. There is a fundamental need for more research regarding the pathogenesis of PCOS in order to identify the underlying causes. An increasing number of publications infer that genetics is the primary factor of this disease, and take unique approaches to understand this genotypic-to-phenotypic association. Genetic abnormalities have been shown to play a significant role in the metabolic complications (including IR), and appear among both male and female first-degree relatives of women with PCOS. However, genetic research in PCOS is still new, and previously published findings need to be reevaluated. There are several inconsistencies among genetic studies regarding PCOS.

The genetic evaluation of PCOS is also the gateway to many other novel areas of research. Since researchers are perplexed by the rapid evolution of the disease, the identification of genomic loci would give considerable insight. The connection between PCOS and male relatives, a contentious topic, could be better understood with the advancement of genetic analysis. These two areas require a fundamental basis upon which to build theories in order to expand our knowledge on the etiology of the disease. These discoveries would also help create a novel treatment or cure.

The indefinite diagnostic criteria in addition to its immense intricacy make PCOS a challenging area of research. The aim of this article is to review the present status and formulate an interesting and clinically relevant research direction that is essential to move the field of PCOS forward.

3. METHODOLOGY

A Pubmed database search was done using the phrase "polycystic ovary syndrome". This search (1990-present) yielded 8,267 articles and 237 of these were selected for further analysis. After examining abstracts, 81 were selected for investigation of the complete articles and their relevant references.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. Causes, risk factors, and diagnosis

PCOS is a prevalent condition found in 6-10% of the female population in developed countries (9). It is a familial polygenic condition thought to be attributed to both genetic and environmental factors (6-8). There has been much debate about the origin and pathological cause of PCOS in the past decade. Recently, many studies indicate that a defect in insulin action may be the primary cause of PCOS (10-12).

Environmental factors have been shown to play a role in the pathogenesis of PCOS. There have been several studies observing the role of socio-economic status (SES) and unhealthy behavior, including smoking, poor diet, and lack of exercise (13, 14). One of the most common associations with low SES is obesity, which also has a high rate of co-morbidity in PCOS (15, 16). In a recent study, Merkin *et al.* found a correlation between low childhood SES and PCOS (17). This risk of PCOS was even higher among obese women. Further research regarding environmental influence could help pinpoint high-risk groups and develop a better understanding of developmental origins.

Genetics also play a momentous role in the origin of this disease. PCOS is thought to be an ancient disorder, which is most likely passed down between fertile carrier males and subfertile females (18). This can be seen through high familial rates of hyperandrogenism and type 2 diabetes in first-degree relatives of women with PCOS (19, 20). In 2011, Zhao *et al.* found that single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs13429458 is significantly associated with familial-based risk of PCOS; association among three loci was delineated (21, 22).

Additionally, other studies suggest that ethnicity may be associated with PCOS. In one study among women in the US, there was an 8.0% prevalence among African Americans and a 4.8% prevalence among Caucasians (not significantly different) (23). There was a 6.8% prevalence in Greek women (24) and a 6.5% prevalence among women in Madrid, Spain (25). Mexican-Americans have one of the highest rates, with a 13% prevalence (26). It is possible this is due to the greater degree of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes among this population (27). Prevalence rates were found among women of reproductive age group.

According to the Rotterdam Criteria, there are three key diagnostic features of PCOS: anovulation, hyperandrogenism, and polycystic ovaries (2). Patients must display two of the three phenotypes to be diagnosed as having PCOS. Anovulation is the most common phenotype among PCOS patients, with up to 95% of women with PCOS experiencing some type of anovulation (28, 29). This is often displayed as oligomenorrhea with less than eight periods in one year, or amenorrhea with no period for more than three months. Women with PCOS are usually not entirely sterile and do ovulate spontaneously. The frequency of ovulation has not been well studied, but some suggest that ovulation occurs in up to 32% of menstrual cycles (30).

Hyperandrogenism is another persistent diagnostic phenotype in PCOS and is seen in approximately 60% of patients (31). Clinical markers for hyperandrogenism are hirsutism, acne, and alopecia. Hyperandrogenism can also be assessed biochemically by measuring circulating androgen levels (32, 33).

The presence of polycystic ovaries (PCO) is an important diagnostic criterion for PCOS. However, the presence of polycystic ovaries alone does not guarantee PCOS. The definition of PCO in terms of ultrasound diagnosis is defined as: 'presence of 12 or more follicles in each ovary measuring 2-9 mm in diameter, and/or increased ovarian volume (>10ml)' (34). The prevalence of PCO in PCOS patients is estimated to be 17-33% (35). Determining the presence of the preceding phenotypes can be difficult.

It is important to rule out disorders that have manifestations similar to PCOS. Simple tests can be performed to exclude disorders such as hyperprolactinemia (causing anovulation), nonclassic congenital adrenal hyperplasia (causing excess androgen production), Cushing's syndrome (causing all three diagnostic criteria as well as insulin resistance), and the presence of any androgen-secreting tumors (2).

With age the PCOS phenotype, both clinically and endocrinologically, begins to transform. Many women with PCOS start to develop a more consistent menstrual cycle as they grow older (36, 37). In addition to this regularity, there is an overall improvement of most other phenotypes, including decreased androgen levels and decreased insulin resistance (38).

It can be seen that despite all of these various methods of assessing PCOS, there is a lack of any solid, objective test that that can provide an absolute affirmative diagnosis at this time.

4.2. Associated health conditions

There are a plethora of health implications that have been associated with the diagnosis of PCOS, many of these constituting lifelong complications. One of the most common risks includes the presence of metabolic anomalies and their associated manifestations.

4.2.1. Metabolic complications, obesity, and cardiovascular risk

Insulin resistance (IR) can be found in 60-80% of all women with PCOS and in 95% of obese women with PCOS (3, 39). In 2001, Dunaif et al. concluded that there is a defect in post-receptor insulin signal transduction that is independent of obesity and type 2 diabetes (40). In addition to metabolic disturbances, IR also contributes to hyperandrogenism, anovulation, and cardiovascular risks (41). IR is not the only metabolic disorder found in PCOS patients; there is also an increased prevalence of impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), gestational diabetes (GDM), as well as type 2 diabetes (42). In the future, more long-term studies need to be conducted to determine metabolic effects throughout the patient's lifespan, not just during reproductive age. It is also important to delineate the metabolic abnormalities that are specifically caused by PCOS versus those caused by obesity.

Obesity is present in at least 30% of PCOS patients, with reports of up to 61-76% in the United States and Australia (43). The precise association of PCOS and

obesity has yet to be delineated; however, obesity aggravates many features of the syndrome and halts successful treatment of phenotypes.

Metabolic abnormalities lead to an increased risk of cardiovascular problems in PCOS patients as they age and obesity exacerbates these risks. Studies have indicated that a higher risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is associated with increased severity of PCOS phenotypes in both obese and non-obese patients (44, 45). There is minimal research that has been conducted on the long-term outcomes of CVD and PCOS. Identifying clinical characteristics in post-menopausal women could be a novel way to determine risk factors for possible prevention of CVD and other cardiovascular problems (46).

4.2.2. Neurological and psychological functions

Other than the evident endocrinologic and reproductive manifestations of PCOS, there are also serious mental health consequences. There have been several studies that show a correlation between women with PCOS and a reduced health-related quality of life (47-49). In addition to impaired quality of life, the prevalence of anxiety, depression, and poor self-perception are also higher among women with PCOS (50). It is recommended that all women with PCOS should undergo psychological screening and take appropriate interventions where required (29). This comes with no astonishment, since the foremost phenotypes of this syndrome (obesity, infertility, hirsutism) are major issues that would undoubtedly cause psychological stress on any patient. It needs to be confirmed that it is indeed the manifestation of PCOS, and not the syndrome itself, that is causing these psychological problems.

4.2.3. Cancer

There has been a cohort of studies that have suggested an increased rate of endometrial and breast cancer among women with PCOS (51, 52). The anovulatory features (unopposed estrogen, insufficient progesterone) have been shown to cause proliferative tissue growth in the endometrium, leading to carcinoma. Endometrial carcinoma has additional risk factors, including obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes, which can all be associated with PCOS. There is a 2-3 fold increase in risk for endometrial cancer in women with PCOS (54).

4.3. Infertility

Polycystic ovary syndrome is the most common cause of menstrual irregularity that leads to infertility. Out of all couples seeking treatment for infertility, 30% of cases are due to anovulation. It is estimated that 90% of anovulation cases are actually caused by PCOS (55).

The oogenesis process in PCOS patients is different than that of a normal cycling fertile woman. The individual activation from primordial to primary follicle during folliculogenesis is independent of gonadotropins (56, 57). The disruption of the PI3K and FOXO3 pathways in mice results in the activation of all primordial follicles in the pool, causing follicular depletion and premature ovarian failure (58-61). The theca cell layer produces androgens for

adjacent granulosa cells to convert to estradiol (62) in response to LH stimulation (63) as well as insulin levels (64). These two factors, LH and insulin, are especially significant to PCOS patients since 60-80% of patients display insulin resistance (IR), which can contribute to hyperinsulinemia. An excess of insulin in the ovaries can enhance the granulosa response of LH, producing a surplus of androgens at the site (65). In healthy women, the LH stimulation signals to continue follicle development from the primary to the secondary follicular stage. An increase of LH can also cause early maturation of granulosa cells (66).

PCOS patients often use methods of assisted reproductive technologies (ART) for conception. The first technique often used is ovulation induction to encourage the development of multiple follicles that will eventually be suitable for fertilization. The most common drug treatment used for ovulation induction is clomiphene citrate (CC) (67). CC has been shown to result in pregnancy 50% of the time after three cycles of treatment, and 75% of the time after nine cycles (68).

4.4. Treatment and management

There is currently no cure for PCOS. For women with PCOS not seeking pregnancy, combined oral contraceptive pills (OCPs) are the first line of treatment. Not only do these pills regulate the menstrual cycle, but they also decrease the production of adrenal androgens. A healthy lifestyle will not reverse characteristics of PCOS, but will help control associated health conditions such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, and infertility. Hirsutism, a common manifestation of PCOS, is often treated at the discretion of the patient, using OCPs alongside antiandrogen (29). Laser-hair removal is also a common means of controlling hirsutism among PCOS patients.

5. CURRENT RESEARCH AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

During the last five years, there have been over 3,172 articles published related to PCOS, with an increasing number of articles published each year. Of these articles, the topics of insulin resistance (IR) and metabolic abnormalities associated with PCOS were the most researched.

5.1. Diagnosis

As described in section 4.1, there are several challenges in confirming the diagnosis of PCOS in women who present its characteristics symptoms. Although hyperandrogenism testing is the most promising diagnositic criteria, as it is seen in 60% of women with PCOS (69), its methods of assessment could result in diagnostic inconsistency.

The dilemma with the presence of hirsutism is that it is difficult to create a distinct profile of characteristics associated with PCOS. Clinically, hyperandrogenism is most often diagnosed through the presence of hirsutism. Other indicators such as acne and alopecia are occasionally taken into account. However, the biggest drawback of using hirsutism as a primary indicator

of PCOS is its subjective assessment. It has been shown that women of different ethnicities display varying degrees of hirsutism, and symptoms are especially rare in Asian women (70) and not well understood in adolescent patients (71).

The second test to diagnose hyperandrogenism is to measure circulating androgen levels. Measurements of serum total testosterone (T) and sex hormone binding protein (SHBG) are often the markers for these tests. However, tests measuring androgens can be inaccurate/yield unreliable results (72). The accurate identification of hyperandrogenism in women is crucial to the overall diagnosis of PCOS. Since such a high percentage of PCOS patients display hyperandrogenism, a better method of evaluating and testing symptoms must be formulated.

5.2. Obesity

Much like PCOS, obesity has become a recent worldwide epidemic in the past decades, especially in developed countries. The highest rates of obesity in PCOS patients occur in the United States and Australia, where 61-76% of women with PCOS meet the criteria for obesity (29, 73, 74).

It has been established that the pathogenesis of PCOS likely has the influence of genetics, in addition to environmental factors such as diet and lifestyle. Studies unrelated to PCOS have shown that hyperandrogenism is associated with obesity during the onset of puberty (46, 75). If hyperandrogenism can be prevented by weight loss in prepubescents, it is possible that PCOS could be better maintained or even prevented in adult life.

Obesity not only intensifies the pre-existing PCOS phenotypes, but also projects poor treatment outcomes. Women seeking infertility treatment who have a high BMI are most likely to seek medical assistance for infertility (76). Lower rates of successful ART procedures are found among women with a high BMI, with an increased need for extended ovarian stimulation (77-79). In addition to this and the effects of the PCOS phenotypes, there is an amplified risk of miscarriage in patients with a BMI over 25kg/m² (80).

5.3. Genetics

There has been an increase in the hypothesis for a genetic predisposition to PCOS. Many recent studies have suggested that a genetic defect in a post-receptor insulin signal transduction can be linked to PCOS patients (10-12). This mutation can increase rates of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in first-degree relatives that are both male and female (19, 20) as well as twins (8). The vast complexity of phenotypic heterogeneity associated with PCOS complicates the focus of genetic studies. Currently, there have been many candidate gene association studies on PCOS phenotypes. These studies are easier to perform than case-control cohorts, but they do not yield consistent results and lack sufficient sample sizes (81). Many of these studies include the investigations on the insulin gene (*INS*), the

insulin receptor (*INSR*), and sex hormone-binding globulin (*SHBG*).

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have become a promising area of PCOS research. Since its introduction in 2005, GWAS have been used to scan entire genomes and pinpoint susceptible loci in many diseases, including Crohn's diseases, type 2 diabetes, and asthma. There have been only a few GWAS concerning PCOS to date (21, 82). The first GWAS included a group of 744 women with PCOS with 895 controls of Han Chinese women. The two replication cohorts included 2840 women with PCOS and 5012 controls, and 498 women with PCOS and 780 controls, respectively. The first locus was identified on chromosome 2p16.3, which contains two genes: GTF2A1L, expressed in testis, and LHCGR, which plays a role in LH receptors crucial for ovulation and pregnancy maintenance. There were also two separate SNPs located at the second locus on chromosome 2p21, in the THADA gene region (thyroid adenoma gene). The last locus was identified on 9q33.3 in DENND1A, which controls the production of endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase-1, used for membrane trafficking. This study is one of the leading studies on the genetics of PCOS.

Since the publication of the first GWAS PCOS study, there have been a small number of studies that have attempted to replicate these results. The first, performed by Goodarzi *et al.* in 2012, analyzed two cohorts of European women with PCOS as well as controls (83). They concluded only significant associations among *DENND1A* and *THADA* in their selected population compared to the original study including Chinese women. The second study was conducted by Welt *et al.* in 2012 on women from Iceland, Massachusetts, and Illinois (84). These women displayed a significant correlation only among the *DENND1A* gene.

The most recent replication, by Pau et al. in 2013. compared European women to the original GWAS as well as a meta-analysis of the previous candidate gene studies (85). This cohort of women was one of the biggest populations studied to date. They found none of the formerly examined variants to be associated with risk for PCOS. However, there were two variants in the FBN3 gene identified to be associated with a smaller waist circumference in the control groups and the PCOS group. This gene has been shown to code for the protein fibrillin-3, commonly used for structure in connective tissue (86), in addition to another intron associated with metabolic complications in women with PCOS (87). These two variants had a lower frequency in comparison to the control women, suggesting a reduction in fibrillin-3 expression leading to smaller waist circumferences in the carriers. Another variant was also located on the SHBG gene, and associated with lower levels of SHBG in women with PCOS. These data suggest that PCOS identifies more with BMI and obesity as the primary causative factors, rather than the factors related to fertility and reproduction.

At present, GWAS are undeniably the most promising area of genetic research in PCOS. However, the

consistency of results among these genetic studies continues to be the foremost obstacle. Collaboration among investigators will strengthen the credibility and authority of future genome-wide and candidate gene association studies. It is essential to develop a system to gather large cohorts of women of varying ethnicities in order to examine a greater array of possible variants. The discovery of new, reliable, and steady data is the precursor to developing criteria for a structured risk-factor evaluation and possibly novel treatment modalities.

5.4. Immunology

Obesity has recently been classified as a status of low-grade inflammation due to the excessive production of cytokines, adipokines, and other reactants (88). These markers include TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1, IP-10, CRP and IL-18 (88-91), and they act as inflammation mediators to maintain inflammation in adipose tissue (92). It is thought that the constant release of these mediators is what initiates insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and other metabolic complications (88). It is also thought that this inflammation in PCOS could be causative of the common metabolic and cardiovascular difficulties.

C-reactive protein (CRP), a common marker of inflammation, is produced by adipose tissue in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines (93). High levels of CRP are strongly correlated with the risk of cardiovascular complications (94). It has been well-established that women with PCOS have increased levels of CRP when compared to healthy subjects (up to 96% greater, and 102% when BMI was matched) (95, 96). There is also a relationship between PCOS and interleukin-18 (IL-18), another proinflammatory cytokine. IL-18 is associated with IR and metabolic complications, and has been found to correlate with testosterone levels in women with PCOS (97). Increased levels of MCP-1, MIP-1α, WBC, IL-6, TNF-α, and oxidative stress are additional markers of inflammation found in women with PCOS (96, 98-101). It is thought that this increase in specific cytokines (CRP, IL-6, and TNF- α) is mostly attributed to obesity, and not solely to PCOS (102). However, most of these studies contain small groups of subjects with inconsistent data, and their results are not definite (103).

Inflammation is found in PCOS patients who are obese as well as non-obese. Women with PCOS of normal weight have a higher buildup of fat in the visceral area compared to other parts of the body (104). This distribution of visceral adiposity in non-obese women has been shown to be correlated with increased insulin resistance and is probably a causative factor of low-grade inflammation in these patients (105). These data suggest that obesity does not need to be present in a PCOS patient to experience low-grade inflammation.

These findings bring up a vital question that should be further examined: is the inflammation caused by PCOS, or a result of obesity/other metabolic problems? To our knowledge, there has been no study examining the effect of anti-inflammatory treatment in women with

PCOS. The response of anti-inflammatory drugs in PCOS patients needs to be examined.

In addition to anti-inflammatory treatment modalities, other types of drugs may be beneficial to these patients. Women with PCOS often exhibit low levels of progesterone, causing anovulatory complications. During a normal cycle, estrogen promotes the increased production of IL-6 during the follicular phase, which is later inhibited by progesterone in the luteal phase (106). The absence of progesterone in PCOS patients may lead to overstimulation of the immune system, inducing autoantibodies (107). Combined oral contraceptive pills contain progesterone; this daily dose could help reduce the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (108), while simultaneously causing a decrease in testosterone levels in women with PCOS (109). OCPs provide a double-edged sword when administered - an improvement in hormonal balance as well as a reduction of inflammation.

The administration of Vitamin D in these patients could also be a promising supplement during treatment. It is thought that communities who live near the equator synthesize a large amount of natural Vitamin D from the sun, reducing their risk for auto-immune diseases (110). In a recent study of women with PCOS, 72.8% of the patients had low levels of vitamin D and these women experienced worsened metabolic phenotypes (111). In addition, it has been established that obesity is also a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency (112). Therefore, the treatment with vitamin D supplement could help improve metabolic anomalies as well as autoimmune complications and potentially PCOS.

5.5. Evolutionary aspect

One puzzling question to address is: if PCOS is a hereditary syndrome that impedes fertility, why is its prevalence not diminishing? This paradox has created many evolutionary hypotheses among scientists in recent years. Some argue that PCOS may have worked in favor of women in centuries past in times when food was scarce. An increased insulin resistance in these women causes more fat storage and a decreased appetite (113), both beneficial characteristics to possess in times of famine. In this sense, women with PCOS would have a greater survival rate, thus having the advantage of reproducing and passing on their genes. Stored fat was also beneficial for a woman to be ready for pregnancy and to prolong her reproductive years. Even though women today with PCOS most often have a difficult time conceiving due to ovulatory dysfunction, it has been shown that these women actually develop a more regular cycle as they age (114). This suggests that women with PCOS have superior fertility at advanced ages compared to normal women. This also would have given women with PCOS in earlier times an advantage in terms of fitness and reproduction. Increased knowledge about the selections against the PCOS phenotype is crucial to comprehend the current evolution of PCOS (115).

5.6. PCOS phenotype in men

PCOS may not be just a reproductive disorder in women. We may infer that it is rather a *metabolic* disorder (with reproductive dysfunction) that can be seen in both

men and women. The two reproductive characteristics of PCOS seen solely in women include anovulatory disorders and polycystic ovaries. These two characteristics are not found in all cases, nor are they specifically required for diagnosis. Other characteristics, such as hyperandrogenism, metabolic abnormalities, and cardiovascular problems, can all be found in both genders, especially in men who are relatives of women with PCOS. As discussed, the genetic basis of PCOS has been found in the close male relatives of women with PCOS. The insulin signal transduction defect found in PCOS patients is not specific to women or their reproductive system and therefore can be also seen in men.

There are a few published articles regarding PCOS phenotype in men. The findings suggest that male relatives of women with PCOS display premature male baldness as well as hirsutism (116, 117). One study by Dusková *et al.* concluded that in a population of men experiencing premature hair loss, close to 30% of men displayed hormonal resemblances to women with PCOS (low SHBG, gonadotropin abnormalities) in addition to an increased occurrence of insulin resistance (118). It is possible that this 30% represents the male equivalent of PCOS, which corresponds to the prevalence of PCOS in women.

Once the relationship between the male and female phenotype is better understood, it may be beneficial for male relatives of women with PCOS to be examined. Early detection of symptoms can help us further characterize risks and treatment options.

5.7. Treatment modalities

5.7.1. Assisted reproductive technology (ART)

There are several infertility treatments for PCOS patients, including (assisted reproductive technologies) ART. The first step of any ART treatment is ovarian hyperstimulation in hope of producing the growth of multiple follicles. However, women with PCOS may have an increased response to these gonadotropins, ensuing ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) (119).

Because of this, new methods of the in vitro maturation (IVM) are being utilized for women with PCOS (120). Overall, the current rates of implantation after IVM-IVF procedure are not as high as traditional IVF method (121). In an IVM-IVF procedure more embryos are often transferred. A study published by Shalom-Paz et al. in 2012 compared rates of IVM-IVF to traditional IVF (122). They found that the live birth rates were comparable between IVM-IVF (26.8%) and traditional IVF (25%) in women with PCOS. These promising results suggest that IVM could provide a better method than in vivo superovulation in PCOS patients. In another recent study, certain PCOS patient characteristics (antral follicle count, total testosterone, and circulating anti-Mullerian hormone) were measured and compared to outcomes of IVM cycles (123). These qualities were shown to be promising predictors in the outcome of IVM cycles in PCOS patients. Future studies in this type of research could yield a predictive model to help determine the probability of ART success for PCOS patients.

5.7.2. Laparoscopic ovarian drilling (LOD)

In cases where ovulation is not induced with clomiphene citrate therapy, other methods of ovulation induction may be used as an infertility treatment. Laparoscopic ovarian drilling (LOD) was developed in 1984 to replace the invasive ovarian wedge resection surgery (124). Today, this procedure is successful in creating a pregnancy in 84% of patients with PCOS-related infertility (125). LOD helps improve insulin resistance (126) and ovarian androgen production, as well as increase the SHBG levels (127). These improvements have been seen to last in long-term follow-ups in 54% of women 8-12 years after the procedure (128, 129). Due to the normalizing effect on the phenotypes, it is thought that LOD may result in lower rates of miscarriage in women with PCOS (130). although more research needs to be done to confirm this hypothesis. In addition, it also does not have the dangerous risk of multiple pregnancies or ovarian hyperstimulation seen after CC treatment. When compared to the possibility of multiple CC treatment, LOD was found to be less expensive (131, 132) and resulted in an increased chance for a second child (129).

LOD is most often performed as a second-line treatment once CC has failed. Few studies have been conducted on its success as a first-line treatment option. Some recent reports have used anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) levels as a tool for predicting ovulation outcomes in women with PCOS treated with LOD (133, 134). Lower AMH levels (cutoff at 7.7 ng/ml) were found to predict a higher chance of ovulation in PCOS patients after LOD (133). The expansion of this study could lead to more advanced criteria for women with PCOS that would have optimal ovulation rates using LOD. The benefits of the LOD procedure could possibly outweigh any surgical risk if the women displayed favorable AMH levels. More research with large cohorts needs to be performed to confirm these findings.

5.7.3. Metformin

Metformin is a commonly used drug in the biguanide class used in the maintenance of type 2 diabetes. Along with diet and exercise, it works to control the blood sugar level in patients by controlling gluconeogenesis in the liver. It has been used in the treatment of metabolic derangements in PCOS for many decades, and there is no shortage of data confirming its effective use for hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance. Metformin has been shown to help regulate hyperinsulinemia, reduce the level of androgens, and control the menstrual cycle of women with PCOS (135).

Metformin ameliorates the metabolic manifestations of PCOS, such as IR and type 2 diabetes. These phenotypes play a huge role in the increased risk factors of other associated health conditions, such as obesity and cancer. Recently, the use of insulin sensitizing drugs like metformin has been shown not only to improve metabolic symptoms, but also cause a decline in the frequency of cancer. Anovulation, a common phenotype of PCOS, has also been shown to have an increased risk of endometrial cancer (136). In 2009, Libby *et al.* concluded

that metformin use among patients with type 2 diabetes was associated with a generally lower occurrence of cancer (137). Other studies have conferred that by activating the cellular AMPK pathway, the proliferation of epithelial cells downstream will decrease and thus inhibit the growth of breast cancer cells in women (138). Another recent study by Sarfstein *et al.* reported that Metformin promotes apoptosis and inhibits the growth of uterine serous carcinoma (USC) in endometrial cancer (139). All of these reviews are related to many of the associated health conditions of PCOS.

Even though all of these studies relate to associations with PCOS, little to none have thoroughly examined the relationship between the use of Metformin in women with PCOS and their long-term outcome with cancer, most specifically endometrial cancer. This could be a remarkable breakthrough in the treatment metabolic abnormalities in women with PCOS. Metformin would not only be effective in its traditional metabolic role, but would also act as a double-edged sword and reduce the risk of certain cancers.

5.7.4. Oral contraceptive pills (OCPs)

Combined oral contraceptive pills (OCPs) have been the first line of treatment for women with PCOS not seeking pregnancy for decades (19). Not only do they assist in the regulation of the cycle, but they also reduce androgen production and its corresponding physical manifestations, such as hirsutism and acne. OCPs have also been shown to reduce the risk of endometrial cancer (140-142). The OCPs contain a combination of estrogen (ethinyl estradiol) along with a progestogen. The primary function of estrogen in the OCPs is the anticipated rise in SHBG as well as the reduction in luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimuatling hormone (FSH), which in turn suppresses the levels of free T (143) and ovarian androgen production (144). In negation of the estrogen, the progesterone actually works to decrease SHBG levels: therefore, it is recommended that a progestogen with low androgenic activity be used in the OCPs (145). Three commonly used progestogens are drospiernone, cyproterone acetate, and desogesterol. However, there are disadvantages of the use of OCPs. As previously stated, women with PCOS are at an increased risk of developing various metabolic disorders, including insulin resistance (IR), hyperglycemia, type 2 diabetes, and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT). Increased rates of LDL and decreased rates of HDL cholesterol have been linked to PCOS patients (146). Studies have shown that the use of OCPs can cause cardiometabolic effects among the general population, including thrombosis, blood pressure anomalies, and IR (147, 148). If there is an increased risk among a population of normal women, it is thought that women with PCOS would have an even greater risk of metabolic anomalies when using OCPs (149, 150). There has been no study to our knowledge which examined the long-term metabolic effects of OCPs on patients with PCOS. This is an extremely relevant area of research since OCPs are currently the primary treatment used in women with PCOS.

However, there are recent studies that support a new treatment option: the addition of Metformin along with an OCP. Although this Metformin combination therapy has not been thoroughly examined, studies have observed positive effects when implemented, such as decreased androgens and increased SHBG when compared to OCPs alone (151-153). A recent study by Kaya *et al.* found that this treatment helps to ameliorate insulin resistance and aortic stiffness in PCOS patients (154).

The complexity and mechanisms of OCPs leave many questions unanswered. The future investigations of PCOS and OCP research must focus on balancing the pros and cons for different risk groups. OCP use can reduce risk of endometrial cancer by 50-70% in the PCOS population, where there is a 2-3 fold increase in this cancer (155). On the other hand, OCPs also have a risk of cardiometabolic effects, which are already heightened in women with PCOS, especially if they are obese.

5.7.5. Dietary therapy

Obesity is found in approximately 30% of PCOS patients with rates of up to 76% found in the US and Australia (43). Dietary therapies for weight loss have been shown to improve many symptoms of PCOS, including androgen levels, insulin resistance, anovulation, and irregularity of cycles (156-158). Unfortunately, the optimal outcomes of diet and exercise are not always long-term (159). Bariatric surgery has become a popular method to obtain and sustain weight loss in obese men and women worldwide with long-term survival rates (160). Recently, there has been an interest in the use of bariatric surgery as a therapy for morbidly obese women with PCOS. Escobar et al. studied the response of PCOS phenotypes to weight loss after bariatric surgery (161). Their findings suggested that the surgery resulted in an almost complete transformation of PCOS phenotypes. After weight loss, all patients gained regularity of their menstrual cycles, insulin resistance improved, and overall hirsutism and androgen concentrations decreased to a normal range (in all patients but one). It was concluded that none of the patients fit the criteria for PCOS after the surgery.

In addition to the amelioration of PCOS phenotypes, the weight loss also can improve the reproductive outcomes for the patient (162-169). Higher rates of spontaneous ovulation and pregnancy, as well as decreased rates of miscarriage, are associated with weight loss (162-164). These satisfying results suggest that bariatric surgery could become a first-line treatment option for some women with PCOS. More data is needed to identify which group will benefit the most with this treatment (i.e. morbidly obese vs. obese; young vs. old).

5.8. Long-term effects

As previously discussed, there are many chronic health conditions associated with PCOS. Little research has been done on the long-term health of post-menopausal PCOS patients. As discussed, age has been shown to help improve many phenotypes of PCOS; however, there is no recognized standard of phenotypes in post-menopausal women. It is assumed that these women will have increased

rates of obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular problems (29), but there has been no direct comparison between the mortality rates of normal vs. women with PCOS. The need for long-term studies is crucial to understand which phenotypes will present additional health risks at increased age and if there is a difference in morbidity rates among PCOS patients. GWAS can also be used to recognize and track genetic anomalies throughout the aging process in order to identify risk factors.

6. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, PCOS is becoming a more prevalent disorder among women of reproductive age with lifelong complications. One of the most challenging aspects of this syndrome is its ambiguous diagnostic criteria and vast complexity of characteristics. In the future, more research in the genetics and pathophysiology of PCOS is needed to determine preventative risk factors as well as successful treatment modalities for this syndrome.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The project described was supported by the NIH/National Institute of General Medical Science, U54GM104942. The content is the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH. A special thanks to all members of the lab, especially Morgan Lough.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. R.J. Norman, D. Dewailly, R.S. Legro and T.E. Hickey: Polycystic ovary syndrome. *Lancet* 370, 685-697 (2007)
- 2. Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod* 19, 41-47 (2004)
- 3. E. Carmina, S.E. Oberfield, and R.A. Lobo: The diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescents. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 203, 201.e1-201.e5 (2010)
- 4. E. Diamanti-Kandarakis, C. Kouli, T. Tsianateli, and A. Bergiele: Therapeutic effects of metformin on insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* 138, 269-274 (1998)
- 5. J. Adams, D.W. Polson, and S. Franks: Prevalence of polycystic ovaries in women with anovulation and idiopathic hirsituism. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 293, 355-359 (1986)
- 6. S. Franks, M. Gharani, D. Waterworth, S. Batty, D. White, R. Williamson, and M. McCarthy: The genetic basis of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 12, 2641-2648 (1997)
- 7. S. Franks and M. McCarthy: Genetics of ovarian disorders: polycystic ovary syndrome. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* 5, 69-76 (2004)

- 8. J.M. Vink, S. Sadrzadeh, C.B. Lambalk, and D.I. Boomsma: Heritability of polycystic ovary syndrome in a Dutch twinfamily study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91, 2100-2104 (2006)
- 9. F. Broekmans, E. Knauff, O. Valkenburg, J. Laven, M. Eijkemans, and B. Fauser: PCOS according to the Rotterdam consensus criteria: change in prevalence among WHO-II anovulation and association with metabolic factors. *BJOG* 113, 1210-1217 (2006)
- 10. A. Dunaif and D.T. Finegood: Beta-cell dysfunction independent of obesity and glucose intolerance in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 81, 942-947 (1996)
- 11. A. Corbould, Y.B. Kim, J.F. Youngren, C. Pender, B.B. Kahn, A. Lee, and A. Dunaif: Insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS involves intrinsic and acquired defects in insulin signaling. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288, E1047-E1054 (2005)
- 12. P.F. Svendsen, L. Nilas, K. Nørgaard, J.E. Jensen, and S. Madsbad: Obesity, body composition and metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 23, 2113-2121 (2008)
- 13. H. Graham and G. Der: Influences on women's smoking status: The contribution of socioeconomic status in adolescence and adulthood. *Eur J Pub Health* 9, 137-141 (1999)
- 14. G.S. Barkley: Factors influencing health behaviors in the National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey, III (NHANES III). Soc Work Health Care 46, 57-79 (2008)
- 15. R.C. Thurston, L.D. Kubzansky, I. Kawachi, and L.F. Berkman: Is the association between socioeconomic position and coronary heart disease stronger in womEn than in men? *Am J Epidemiol* 162, 57-65 (2005)
- 16. R. Martorell, L.K. Khan, M.L. Hughes, and L.M. Grummer-Strawn: Obesity in women from developing countries. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 54, 247-252 (2000)
- 17. S.S. Merkin, R. Azziz, T. Seeman, R. Calderon-Margalit, M. Daviglus, C. Kiefe, K. Matthews, B. Sternfeld, and D. Siscovick: Socioeconomic status and polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Womens Health* 20, 413-419 (2011)
- 18. R. Azziz, D. Dumesic, and M. Goodarzi: Polycystic ovary syndrome: an ancient disorder? *Fertil Steril* 95, 1544-1548 (2011)
- 19. D.A. Ehrmann, K. Kasza, R. Azziz, R.S. Legro, and M.N. Ghazzi: Effects of race and family history of type 2 diabetes on metabolic status of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90, 66-71 (2005)
- 20. R.S. Legro, D. Driscoll, J.F. Strauss III, J. Fox, and A. Dunaif: Evidence for a genetic basis for hyperandrogenemia in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 14956-14960 (1998)

- 21. Z.J. Chen, H. Zhao, L. He, Y. Shi, Y. Qin, Y. Shi, Z. Li, L. You, J. Zhao, J. Liu, X. Liang, X. Zhao, J. Zhao, Y. Sun, B. Zhang, H. Jiang, D. Zhao, Y. Bian, X. Gao, L. Geng, Y. Li, D. Zhu, X. Sun, J.E. Xu, C. Hao, C.E. Ren, Y. Zhang, S. Chen, W. Zhang, A. Yang, J. Yan, Y. Li, J. Ma, and Y. Zhao: Genome-wide association study identifies suspectibility loci for polycystic ovary syndrome on chromosome 2p16.3, 2p21, 9q33.3. *Nat Genet* 43, 55-59 (2011)
- 22. H. Zhao, X. Xu, X. Xing, J. Wang, L. He, Y. Shi, Y. Shi, Y. Zhao, and Z.J. Chen: Family-based analysis of susceptibility loci for polycystic ovary syndrome on chromosome 2p16.3, 2p21 and 9q33.3. *Hum Reprod* 27, 294-298 (2012)
- 23. R. Azziz, K.S. Woods, R. Reyna, T.J. Key, E.S. Knochenhauer, and B.O. Yildiz: The prevalence and features of the polycystic ovary syndrome in an unselected population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 2745-2749 (2004)
- 24. E. Diamanti-Kanarakis, C.R. Kouli, A.T. Bergiele, F.A. Filandra, T.C. Tsianateli, G.G. Spina, E.D. Zapanti, and M.I. Bartzis: A survey of the polycystic ovary syndrome in the Greek island of Lesbos: hormonal and metabolic profile. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 4006-4011 (1999)
- 26. Y.W. Park, S. Zhu, L. Palaniappan, S. Heshka, M.R. Carnethon, and S.B. Heymsfield: The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *Arch Int Med* 163, 427-436 (2003)
- 27. S.M. Haffner, M.P. Stern, H.P. Hazuda, J. Pugh, J.K. Patterson, and R. Malina: Upper body and centralized adiposity in Mexican Americans and non-Hispanic whites: relationship to body mass index and other behavioral and demographic variables. *Int J Obes* 10, 493-502 (1986)
- 28. V. Kumarapeli, A. Seneviratne Rde, C.N. Wijeyaratne, R.M. Yapa, and S.H. Dodampahala: A simple screening approach for assessing community prevalence and phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome in a semi-urban population in Sri Lanka. *Am J Epidemiol* 168, 321-328 (2008)
- 29. Amsterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored 3rd PCOS Consensus Workshop. Consensus on women's health aspects of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod* 27, 14-24 (2012)
- 30. J.S. Laven, B. Imani, M.J. Eijkemans, and B.C. Fauser: New approach to polycystic ovary syndrome and other forms of anovulatory infertility. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* 57, 755-767 (2002)
- 31. A.H. Balen, G.S. Conway, G. Kaltsas, K. Techatrasak, P.J. Manning, C. West, and H.S. Jacobs: Polycystic ovary syndrome: the spectrum of the disorder in 1741 patients. *Hum Reprod* 10, 2107-2111 (1995)

- 32. C.M. DeUgarte, K.S. Woods, A.A. Bartolucci, and R. Azziz: Degree of facial and body terminal hair growth in unselected black and white women: toward a populational definition of hirsutism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91, 1345-1350 (2006)
- 33. A. Vermeulen, L. Verdonck, and J.M. Kaufman: A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 3666-3672 (1999)
- 34. A.H. Balen, J.S. Laven, S.L. Tan, and D. Dewailly: Ultrasound assessment of the polycystic ovary: international consensus definitions. *Hum Reprod Update* 9, 505-514 (2003)
- 35. P. Pigny, E. Merlen, Y. Robert, C. Cortet-Rudeilli, C. Decanter, S. Jonard, and D. Dewailly: Elevated serum of anti-mullerian hormone in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to the ovarian follicle excess and to the follicular arrest. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 5957-5962 (2003)
- 36. M.W. Elting, T.J. Korsen, L.T. Rekers-Mombarg, and J. Schoemaker: Women with polycystic ovary syndrome gain regular menstrual cycles when ageing. *Hum Reprod* 15, 24-28 (2000)
- 37. H. Bili, J. Laven, B. Imani, M.J. Eijkemans, and B.C. Fauser: Age-related differences in features associated with polycystic ovary syndrome in normogonadotrophic oligo-amenorrhoeic infertile women of reproductive years. *Eur J Endocrinol* 145, 749-755 (2001)
- 38. Z.A. Brown, Y.V. Louwers, S.L. Fong, O. Valkenburg, E. Birnie, F.H. de Jong, B.C. Fauser, and J.S. Laven: The phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome ameliorates with aging. *Fertil Steril* 96, 1259-1265 (2011)
- 39. C.M. DeUgarte, A.A. Bartolucci, and R. Azziz: Prevalence of insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome using the homeostasis model assessment. *Fertil Steril* 83, 1454-1460 (2005)
- 40. A. Dunaif, X. Wu, A. Lee, and E. Diamanti-Kandarakis: Defects in insulin receptor signaling *in vivo* in the polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 281, E392-E399 (2001)
- 41. R.L. Barbieri, A. Makris, and K.J. Ryan: Effects of insulin on steroidogenesis in cultured porcine ovarian theca. *Fertil Steril* 40, 237-241 (1983)
- 42. L.J. Moran, M.L. Misso, R.A. Wild, and R.J. Norman: Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 16, 347-363 (2010)
- 43. R. Azziz, D. Ehrmann, R.S. Legro, R.W. Whitcomb, R. Hanley, A.G. Fereshetian, M. O'Keefe, M.N. Ghazzi, and PCOS/Troglitazone Study Group: Troglitazone improves

- ovulation and hirsutism in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a multicenter, double blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 1626-1632 (2001)
- 44.X. Zhao, J. Zhong, Y. Mo, X. Chen, Y. Chen, and D. Yang: Association of biochemical hyperandrogenism with type 2 diabetes and obesity in Chinese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 108, 148-151 (2010)
- 45. A. Dokras, S. Clifton, W. Futterweit, and R. Wild: Increased risk for abnormal depression scores in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 117, 145-152 (2011)
- 46. R. Pasquali, E. Stener-Victorin, B.O. Yildiz, A.J. Duleba, K. Hoeger, H. Mason, R. Homburg, T. Hickey, S. Franks, J.S. Tapanainen, A. Balen, D.H. Abbott, E. Diamanti-Kandarakis, and R.S. Legro: PCOS Forum: research in polycystic ovary syndrome today and tomorrow. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 74, 424-433 (2011)
- 47. S. Coffey, G. Bano, and H.D. Mason: Health-related quality of life in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comparison with the general population using the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Questionnaire (PCOSQ) and the Short Form-36 (SF-36). *Gynecol Endocrinol* 22, 80-86 (2006)
- 48. L. Barnard, D. Ferriday, N. Guenther, B. Strauss, A.H. Balen, and L. Dye: Quality of life and psychological well being in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 22, 2279-2286 (2007)
- 49. Y. Li, Y. Li, E.H. Yu Ng, E. Stener-Victorin, L. Hou, T. Wu, F. Han, and X. Wu: Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with negatively variable impacts on domains of health-related quality of life: evidence from a meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* 96, 452-458 (2011)
- 50. A.A. Deeks, M.E. Gibson-Helm, E. Paul, and H.J. Teede: Is having polycystic ovary syndrome a predictor of poor psychological function including anxiety and depression? *Hum Reprod* 26, 1399-1407 (2011)
- 51. A. Balen: Polycystic ovary syndrome and cancer. *Hum Reprod Update* 7, 522-525 (2001)
- 52. P. Hardiman, O.C. Pillay, and W. Atiomo: Polycystic ovary syndrome and endometrial carcinoma. *Lancet* 361, 1810-1812 (2003)
- 53. R.S. Legro, H.X. Barnhart, W.D. Schlaff, B.R. Carr, M.P. Diamond, S.A. Carson, M.P. Steinkampf, C. Coutifaris, P.G. McGovern, N.A. Cataldo, G.G. Gosman, J.E. Nestler, L.C. Giudice, P.C. Leppert, E.R. Myers, and Cooperative Multicenter Reproductive Medicine Network: Clomiphene, metformin, or both for infertility in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 356, 551-566 (2007)
- 54. B.G. Chittenden, G. Fullerton, A. Maheshwari, and S. Bhattacharya: Polycystic ovary syndrome and the risk of gynaecological cancer: a systematic review. *Reprod Biomed Online* 19, 398-405 (2009)

- 55. A.B. Balen, A.J. Rutherford: Managing anovulatory infertility and polycystic ovary syndrome. *BMJ* 335, 663-666 (2007)
- 56. H. Peters, A.G. Byskov, R. Himelstein-Braw, and M. Faber: Follicular growth: the basic event in the mouse and human ovary. *J Reprod Fertil* 45, 559-566 (1975)
- 57. J.E. Fortune, R.A. Cushman, C.M. Wahl, and S. Kito: The primordial to primary follicle transition. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 163, 53-60 (2000)
- 58. D.A. Dumesic, and J.S. Richards: Ontogeny of the ovary in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 100, 23-38 (2013).
- 59. P. Reddy, L. Liu, D. Adhikari, K. Jagarlamudi, S. Rajareddy, Y. Shen, C. Du, W. Tang, T. Hämäläinen, S.L. Peng, Z.J. Lan, A.J. Cooney, I. Huhtaniemi, and K. Liu: Oocyte-specific deletion of Pten causes premature activation of the primordial follicle pool. *Science* 319, 611-613 (2008)
- 60. G.B. John, T.D. Gallardo, L.J. Shirley, and D.H. Castrillon: Foxo3 is a PI3K-dependent molecular switch controlling the initiation of oocyte growth. *Dev Biol* 321, 197-204 (2008)
- 61. D.H. Castrillon, L. Miao, R. Kollipara, J.W. Horner, and R.A. DePinho: Suppression of ovarian follicle activation in mice by the transcription factor Foxo3a. *Science* 301, 215-218 (2003)
- 62. D.A. Magoffin: Ovarian theca cell. *Intl J Biochem Cell Biol* 37, 1344-1349 (2005)
- 63. M.A. Edson, A.K. Nagaraja, and M.M. Matzuk: The mammalian ovary from genesis to revelation. *Endocr Rev* 30, 624-712 (2009)
- 64. R.L. Barbieri, A. Makris, R.W. Randall, G. Daniels, R.W. Kistner, and K.J. Ryan: Insulin stimulates androgen accumulation in incubations of ovarian stroma obtained from women with hyperandrogenism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 62, 904-910 (1986)
- 65. D. Willis, and S. Franks: Insulin action in human granulosa cells from normal and polycystic ovaries is mediated by the insulin receptor and not the type-I insulinlike growth factor receptor. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 80, 3788-3790 (1995)
- 66. D.S. Willis, H. Watson, H.D. Mason, R. Galea, M. Brincat, and S. Franks: Premture response to luteinizing hormone of granulosa cells from anovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome: relevance to mechanism of anovulation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 3984-3991 (1998)
- 67. R.F. Casper: Letrozole versus clomiphene citrate: which is better for ovulation induction? *Fertil Steril* 92, 858-859 (2009)

- 68. B. Imani, M.J. Eijkemans, E.R. te Velde, J.D. Habbema, and B.C. Fauser: Predictors of chances to conceive in ovulatory pateints during clomiphene citrate induction of ovulation in normogonadotropic oligoamenorrheic infertility. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 1617-1622 (1999)
- 69. G.S. Conway, J.W. Honour, and H.S. Jacobs: Heterogeneity of the polycystic ovary syndrome: clinical, endocrine and ultrasound features in 556 patients. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 30, 459-470 (1989)
- 70. E. Carmina, T. Koyama, L. Chang, F.Z. Stanczyk, and R.A. Lobo: Does ethnicity influence the prevalence of hyperandrogenism and insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 167, 1807-1812 (1992)
- 71. K. Ruutiainen, R. Erkkola, M.A. Grönroos, and K. Irjala: Influence of body mass index and age on the grade of hair growth in hirsute women of reproductive ages. *Fertil Steril* 50, 260-265 (1988)
- 72. W. Rosner, R.J. Auchus, R. Azziz, P.M. Sluss, and H. Raff: Utility, limitations, and pitfalls in measuring testosterone: an Endocrine Society postition statement. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 92, 405-413 (2007)
- 73. C.J. Glueck, S. Dharashivkar, P. Wang, B. Zhu, P.S. Gartside, T. Tracy, and L. Sieve: Obesity and extreme obesity, manifest by ages 20-24 years, continuing through 32-41 years in women, should alert physicians to the diagnostic likelihood of polycystic ovary syndrome as a reversible underlying endocrinopathy. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 122, 206-212 (2005)
- 74. H.L. Ching, V. Burke, and B.G. Stuckey: Quality of life and psychological morbidity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: body mass index, age and the provision of patient information are significant modifiers. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 66, 373-379 (2007)
- 75. C.R. McCartney, S.K. Blank, K.A. Prendergast, S. Chhabra, C.A. Eagleson, K.D. Helm, R. Yoo, R.J. Chang, C.M. Foster, S. Caprio, and J.C. Marshall: Obesity and sex steroid changes across puberty: evidence for marked hyperandrogenemia in pre- and early pubertal obese girls. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 92, 430-436 (2007)
- 76. A. Vahratian, and Y.R. Smith: Should access to fertility-related services be conditional on body mass index? *Hum Reprod Update* 24, 1532-1537 (2009)
- 77. P. Fedorcsák, R. Storeng, P.O. Dale, T. Tanbo, and T. Abyholm: Obesity is a risk factor for early pregnancy loss after IVF or ICSI. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 79, 43-48 (2000)
- 78. P. Fedorcsák, P.O. Dale, R. Storeng, G. Ertzeid, S. Bjercke, N. Oldereid, A.K. Omland, T. Abyholm, and T. Tanbo: Impact of overweight and underweight on assisted reproduction treatment. *Hum Reprod* 19, 2523-2528 (2004)

- 79. P. Pandey, A. Maheshwari, and S. Bhattacharya: Should access to fertility treatment be determined by female body mass index? *Hum Reprod* 25, 815-820 (2010)
- 80. M. Metwally, K.J. Ong, W.L. Ledger, and T.C. Li: Does high body mass index increase the risk of miscarriage after spontaneous and assisted conception? A meta-analysis of the evidence. *Fertil Steril* 90, 714-726 (2008)
- 81. G. Kosova, and M. Urbanek: Genetics of the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 373, 29-38 (2013)
- 82. Y. Shi, H. Zhao, Y. Shi, Y. Cao, D. Yang, Z. Li, B. Zhang, X. Liang, T. Li, J. Chen, J. Shen, J. Zhao, L. You, X. Gao, D. Zhu, X. Zhao, Y. Yan, Y. Qin, W. Li, J. Yan, Q. Wang, J. Zhao, L. Geng, J. Ma, Y. Zhao, G. He, A. Zhang, S. Zou, A. Yang, J. Liu, W. Li, B. Li, C. Wan, Y. Qin, J. Shi, J. Yang, H. Jiang, J.E. Xu, X Qi, Y. Sun, Y. Zhang, C. Hao, X. Ju, D. Zhao, C.E. Ren, X. Li, W. Zhang, Y. Zhang, J. Zhang, D. Wu, C. Zhang, L. He, and Z.J. Chen: Genome-wide association study identifies eight new risk loci for polycystic ovary syndrome. *Nat Genet* 44, 1020-1025 (2012)
- 83. M.O. Goodarzi, M.R. Jones, X. Li, A.K. Chua, O.A. Garcia, Y.D. Chen, R.M. Krauss, J.I. Rotter, W. Ankener, R.S. Legro, R. Azziz, R., J.F. Strauss III, A. Dunaif, and M. Urbanek: Replication of association DENND1A and THADA variants with polycystic ovary syndrome in European cohorts. *J Med Genet* 49, 90-95 (2012)
- 84. C.K. Welt, U. Styrkarsdottir, D.A. Ehrmann, G. Thorleifsson, G. Arason, J.A. Gudmundsson, C. Ober, R.L. Rosenfield, R. Saxena, U. Thorsteinsdottir, W.F. Crowley, and K. Stefansson: Variants in DENND1A are associated with polycystic ovary syndrome in women of European ancestry. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 97, E1342-E1347 (2012)
- 85. C. Pau, R. Saxena, and C.K. Welt: Evaluating reported candidate gene associations with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 99, 1774-1778 (2013)
- 86. L. Sabatier, N. Miosge, D. Hubmacher, G. Lin, E.C. Davis, and D.P. Reinhardt: Fibrillin-3 expression in human development. *Matrix Biol* 30, 43-52 (2011)
- 87. M. Urbanek, S. Sam, R.S. Legro, and A. Dunaif: Identification of a polycystic ovary syndome susceptibility variant in fibrillin-3 and association with a metabolic phenotype. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 92, 4191-4198 (2007)
- 88. A. Repaci, A. Gambineri, and R. Pasquali: The role of low-grade inflammation in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 335, 30-41 (2011)
- 89. F. Orio, S. Palomba, T. Cascella, S. Di Biase, F. Manguso, L. Tachmanovà, L.G. Nardo, D. Labella, S. Savastano, T. Russo, F. Zullo, A. Colao, and G. Lombardi: The increase of leukocytes as a new putative marker of low-grade chronic inflammation and early

- cardiovascular risk in polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90, 2-5 (2005)
- 90. R.W. Alexander: Inflammation and coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med* 331, 468-469 (1994)
- 91. G. Amato, M. Conte, G. Mazziotti, E. Lalli, G. Vitolo, A.T. Tucker, A. Bellastella, C. Carella, and A. Izzo: Serum and follicular fluid cytokines in polycystic ovary syndrome during stimulated cycles. *Obstet Gynecol* 101, 1177-1182 (2003)
- 92. S. Gordon: Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3, 23-35 (2003)
- 93. J.V. Castell, M.J. Gómez-Lechón, M. David, T. Andus, T. Geiger, R. Trullengue, R. Fabra, and P.C. Heinrich: Interleukin-6 is the major regulator of acute phase protein synthesis in adult human hepatocytes. *FEBS Lett* 242, 237-239 (1989)
- 94. P.M. Ridker, J.E. Buring, N.R. Cook, and N. Rifai: Creactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. *Circulation* 107, 391-397 (2003)
- 95. C.C. Kelly, H. Lyall, J.R. Petrie, J.R., G.W. Gould, J. M. Connell, and N. Sattar: Low grade inflammation in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 2453-2455 (2001)
- 96. H.F. Escobar-Morreale, M. Lugue-Ramírez, and F. González: Circulating inflammatory markers in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Fertil Steril* 95, 1048-1058 (2011)
- 97. H.F. Escobar-Morreale, J.I. Botella-Carretero, G. Villuendas, J. Sancho, and J.L. San Millán: Serum interleukin-18 concentrations are increased in the polycystic ovary syndrome: relationship to insulin resistance and to obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89: 806-811 (2004)
- 98. F. González, N.S. Rote, J. Minium, and J.P. Kirwan: Evidence of proatherogenic inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Steroids* 58, 954-962 (2009)
- 99. D. Glintborg, M. Andersen, B. Richelsen, and J.M. Bruun: Plasma monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha are increased in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and associated with adiposity, but unaffected by pioglitazone treatment. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 71: 652-658 (2009)
- 100. T. Sabuncu, H. Vural, M. Harma, and M. Harma: Oxidative stress in polycystic ovary syndrome and its contribution to the risk of cardiovascular disease. *Clin Biochem* 34, 407-413 (2001)
- 101. K. Ebejer, and J. Calleja-Agius: The role of cytokines in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 29, 536-540 (2013)

- 102. N. Samy, M. Hashim, M. Sayed, and M. Said: Clinical significance of inflammatory markers in polycystic ovary syndrome: their relationship to insulin resistance and body mass index. *Dis Markers* 26, 163-170 (2009)
- 103. A.J. Duleba, and A. Dokras: Is PCOS an inflammatory process? *Fertil Steril* 97, 7-12 (2012)
- 104. S. Kirchengast, and J. Huber: Body composition characteristics and body fat distribution in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 16, 1255-1260 (2001)
- 105. T. Sathyapalan, and S.L. Atkin: Mediators of inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome in relation to adiposity. *Mediators Inflamm* 2010, 1-5 (2010)
- 106. M.W. Angstwurm, R. Gärtner, and H.W. Ziegler-Heitbrock: Cyclic plasma IL-6 levels during normal menstrual cycle. *Cytokine* 9, 370-374 (1997)
- 107. J. Petríkova, I. Lazúrová, and S. Yehuda: Polycystic ovary syndrome and autoimmunity. *Eur J Intern Med* 21, 369-371 (2010)
- 108. C.L. Butts, S.A. Shukair, K.M. Duncan, E. Bowers, C. Horn, E. Belyavskaya, L. Tonelli, and E.M. Sternberg: Progesterone inhibits mature rat dendritic cells in a receptor-mediated fashion. *Int Immunol* 19, 287-296 (2007)
- 109. B. Banaszewska, R.Z. Spaczyński, K. Ozegowska, and L. Pawelczyk: The influence of low-dose oral contraceptive pill on clinical and metabolic parameters in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Ginekol Pol* 82, 430-435 (2011)
- 110. M.F. Holick: Vitamin D: a millennium perspective. *J Cell Biochem* 88, 296-307 (2003)
- 111. E. Wehr, S. Pilz, N. Schweighofer, A. Giuliani, D. Hopera, T.R. Pieber, and B. Obermayer-Pietsch: Association of hypovitaminosis D with metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* 161, 575-582 (2009)
- 112. A. Zittermann: Vitamin D in preventive medicine: are we ignoring the evidence? *Br J Nutr* 89, 552-572 (2003)
- 113. D. Porte.: Central regulation of energy homeostasis: the key role of insulin. *Diabetes* 55, S155-S160 (2006)
- 114. M. Hudecova, J. Holte, M. Olovsson, and I. Sundström Poromaa: Long-term follow-up of patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: reproductive outcome and ovarian reserve. *Hum Reprod* 24, 1176-1183 (2009)
- 115. S. Corbett and L. Morin-Papunen: The Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and recent human evolution. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 373, 39-50 (2013)

- 116. D. Ferriman, and A.W. Purdie: The inheritance of polycystic ovarian disease and a possible relationship to premature balding. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 11, 291-300 (1979)
- 117. A. Govind, M.S. Obhrai, and R.N. Clayton: Polycystic ovaries are inheirited as an autosomal dominant trait: analysis of 29 polycystic ovary syndrome and 10 control families. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84, 38-43 (1999)
- 118. M. Dusková, I. Cermáková, M. Hill, M. Vanková, P. Sámalíková, and L. Stárka: What may be the markers of the male equivalent of polycystic ovary syndrome? *Physiol Res* 53, 287-294 (2004)
- 119. I. Tummon, L. Gavrilova-Jordan, M.C. Allemand, and D. Session: Polycystic ovaries and ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome: a systematic review*. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 84, 611-616 (2005)
- 120. M.H. Choi, S.H. Lee, H.O. Kim, S.H. Cha, J.Y. Kim, K.M. Yang, I.O. Song, M.K. Koong, I.S. Kang, and C.W. Park: Comparison of assisted reproductive technology outcomes in infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome: *in vitro* maturation, GnRH agonist, and GnRH antagonist cycles. *Clin Exp Reprod Med* 39, 166-171 (2012)
- 121. W.Y. Son, J.T. Chung, B. Herrero, N. Dean, E. Demirtas, H. Holzer, S. Elizur, R.C. Chian, and S.L. Tan: Selection of the optimal day for oocyte retrieval based on the diameter of the dominant follicle in hCG-primed *in vitro* maturation cycles. *Hum Reprod* 23, 2680-2685 (2008)
- 122. E. Shalom-Paz, H. Holzer, W.Y. Son, I. Levin, S.L. Tan, and B. Almog: PCOS patients can benefit from *in vitro* maturation (IVM) of oocytes. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 165, 53-56 (2012)
- 123. L. Guzman, C. Ortega-Hrepich, N.P. Polyzos, E. Anckaert, G. Verheyen, W. Coucke, P. Devroey, H. Tournaye, J. Smitz, and M. De Vos: A prediction model to select PCOS patients suitable for IVM treatment based on anti-Mullerian hormone and antral follicle count. *Hum Reprod* 28, 1261-1266 (2013)
- 124. H. Gjönnaes.: Polycystic ovarian syndrome treated by ovarian electrocautery through the laparoscope. *Fertil Steril* 41, 20-25 (1984)
- 125. H. Gjönnaess: Ovarian electrocautery in the treatment of women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Factors affecting the results. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 73, 407-412 (1994)
- 126. K.M. Seow, C.C. Juan, Y.P. Hsu, J.L. Hwang, L.W. Huang, and L.T. Ho: Amelioration of insulin resistance in women with PCOS via reduced insulin receptor substrate-1 Ser312 phosphorylation following laparoscopic ovarian electrocautery. *Hum Reprod* 22, 1003-1010 (2007)

- 127. R.L. Flyckt, and J.M. Goldberg: Laparoscopic ovarian drilling for clomiphene-resistant polycystic ovary syndrome. *Semin Reprod Med* 29, 138-146 (2011)
- 128. S.A. Amer, Z. Banu, T.C. Li, and I.D. Cooke: Long-term follow up of patients with polycystic ovary syndrome after laparoscopic ovarian drilling: endocrine and ultrasonographic outcomes. *Hum Reprod* 17, 2851-2857 (2002)
- 129. M.J. Nahuis, N. Kose, N. Bayram, H.J. van Dessel, D.D. Braat, C.J. Hamilton, P.G. Hompes, P.M. Bossuyt, B.W. Mol, F. van der Veen, and M. van Wely: Long-term outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome initially randomized to receive laparoscopic electrocautery of the ovaries or ovulation induction with gonadotropins. *Hum Reprod* 26, 1899-1904 (2011)
- 130. K.A. Cocksedge, T.C. Li, S.H. Saravelos, and M. Metwally: A reappraisal of the role of polycystic ovary syndrome in recurrent miscarriage. *Reprod Biomed Online* 17, 151-160 (2008)
- 131. C.M. Farquhar, K. Williamson, P.M. Brown, and J. Garland: An economic evaluation of laparoscopic ovarian diathermy versus gonadotropin therapy for women with clomiphene citrate resistant polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1110-1115 (2004)
- 132. M.J. Nahuis, E. Oude Lohuis, N. Kose, N. Bayram, P. Hompes, G.J. Oosterhuis, E.M. Kaaijk, B.J. Cohlen, P.P. Bossuyt, F. van der Veen, B.W. Mol, and M. van Wely: Longterm follow-up of laparoscopic electrocautery of the ovaries versus ovulation induction with recombinant FSH in clomiphene citrate-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome: an economic evaluation. *Hum Reprod* 27, 3577-3582 (2012)
- 133. S.A. Amer, T.C Li, and W.L. Ledger: The value of measuring anti-Mullerian hormone in women with anovulatory polycystic ovary syndrome undergoing laparoscopic ovarian diathermy. *Hum Reprod* 24, 2760-2766 (2009)
- 134. A.I. Elmashad: Impact of laparoscopic ovarian drilling on anti-Mullerian hormone levels and ovarian stromal blood flow using three-dimensional power Doppler in women with anovulatory polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 95, 2342-2346 (2011)
- 135. E.M. Velazquez, S. Mendoza, T. Hamer, F. Sosa, and C.J. Glueck: Metformin therapy in polycystic ovary syndrome reduces hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, hyperandrogenemia, and systolic blood pressure, while facilitating normal menses and pregnancy. *Metabolism* 43, 647-654 (1994)
- 136. C.B. Coulam, J.F. Annegers, and J.S. Kranzs: Chronic anovulation syndrome and associated neoplasia. *Obstet Gynecol* 61, 403-407 (1983)
- 137. G. Libby, L.A. Donnelly, P.T. Donnan, D.R. Alessi, A.D. Morris, and J.M. Evans: New users of metformin are at low risk of incident cancer: a cohort

- study among people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 32, 1620-1625 (2009)
- 138. M. Zakikhani, R. Dowling, I.G. Fantus, N. Sonenberg, and M. Pollak: Metformin is an AMP kinase-dependent growth inhibitor for breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 66, 10269-10273 (2006)
- 139. R. Sarfstein, Y. Friedman, Z.A. Geva, A. Fishman, I. Bruchim, and H. Werner: Metformin downregulates the insulin/IGF-I signaling pathway and inhibits different uterine serous carcinoma (USC) cells proliferation and migration in p53-dependent or independent manners. *PloS One* 19, e61537 (2013)
- 140. J.J. Schlesselman: Risk of endometrial cancer in relation to use of combined oral contraceptives. A practitioner's guide to meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod* 12, 1851-1863 (1997)
- 141. M. Vessey and R. Painter: Oral contraceptive use and cancer. Findings in a large cohort study, 1968-2004. *Br J Cancer* 95, 385-389 (2006)
- 142. P.C. Hannaford, S. Selvaraj, A.M. Elliott, C. Angus, L. Iversen, and A.J. Lee: Cancer risk among users of oral contraceptives: cohort data from the Royal College of General Practioner's oral contraception study. *BMJ* 335, 651 (2007)
- 143. A. Murphy, C.S. Cropp, B.S. Smith, R.T. Burkman, and H.A. Zacur: Effect of low-dose oral contraceptive on gonadotropins, androgens, and sex hormone binding globulin in nonhirsute women. *Fertil Steril* 53, 35-39 (1990)
- 144. R. Azziz, and F. Gay: The treatment of hyperandrogenism with oral contraceptives. *Semin Reprod Endocrinol* 7, 246-254 (1989)
- 145. R. Azziz: The evaluation and management of hirsutism. *Obstet Gynecol* 101, 995-1007 (2003)
- 146. E. Talbott, D. Guzick, A. Clerici, S. Berga, K. Detre, K. Weimer, and L. Kuller: Coronary heart disease risk factors in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 15, 821-826 (1995)
- 147. E.B. Rimm, J.E. Manson, M.J. Stampfer, G.A. Colditz, W.C. Willett, B. Rosner, C.H. Hennekens, and F.E. Speizer: Oral contraception use and the risk of type 2 (non-insulin dependent) diabetes mellitus in a large perspective study of women. *Diabetologia* 35, 967-972 (1992)
- 148. S.S Hicksin, K.L. Miles, B.J. McDonnell, Yasmin, J.R. Cockcroft, I.B. Wilkinson, C.M. McEniery, and ENIGMA study investigators: Use of the oral contraceptive pill is associated with increased large artery stiffness in young women: the ENIGMA study. *J Hypertens* 29, 1155-1159 (2011)

- 149. R.M. Watanabe, C.G. Azen, S. Roy, J.A. Perlman, and R.N. Bergman: Defects in carbohydrate metabolism in oral contraceptive users without apparent metabolic risk factors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 79, 1277-1283 (1994)
- 150. I.J. Halperin, S.S. Kumar, D.F. Stroup, and S.E. Laredo: The association between the combined oral contraceptive pill and insulin resistance, dysglycemia and dyslipidemia in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Hum Reprod* 26, 191-201 (2011)
- 151. D. Cibula, M. Fanta, J. Vrbikova, S. Stanicka, K. Dvorakova, M. Hill, J. Skrha, J. Zivny, and J. Skrenkova: The effect of combination therapy with metformin and combined oral contraceptives (COC) versus COC alone on insulin sensitivity, hyperandrogenemia, SHBG and lipids in PCOS patients. *Hum Reprod* 20, 180-184 (2005)
- 152. K. Elter, G. Imir, and F. Durmusoglu: Clinical, endocrine and metabolic effects of metformin added to ethinyl estradiol-cyproterone acetate in non-obese women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: a randomized controlled study. *Hum Reprod* 17, 1729-1737 (2002)
- 153. S. Franks: When should an insulin sensitizing agent be used in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 74, 148-151 (2011)
- 154. M.G. Kaya, B. Calapkorur, Z. Karaca, S. Yildirim, A. Celik, M. Akpek, K. Unluhizarci, and F. Kelestimur: The effects of treatment with drospirenone/ethinyl oestradiol alone or in combination with metformin on elastic properties of aorta in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 77, 885-892 (2012)
- 155. D.A. Dumesic, and R.A. Lobo: Cancer risk and PCOS. Steroids 78, 782-785 (2013)
- 156. J.C. Crave, S. Fimbel, H. Lejeune, N. Cugnardey, H. Déchaud, and M. Pugeat: Effects of diet and metformin administration on sex hormone-binding globulin, androgens, and insulin in hirsute and obese women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 80, 2057-2062 (1995)
- 157. P.G. Crosignani, M. Colombo, W. Vegetti, E. Somigliana, A. Gessati, and G. Ragni: Overweight and obese anovulatory patients with polycystic ovaries: parallel improvements in anthropometric indices, ovarian physiology and fertility rate induced by diet. *Hum Reprod* 18, 1928-1932 (2003)
- 158. A.M. Clark, W. Ledger, C. Galletly, L. Tomlinson, F. Blaney, X. Wang, and R.J. Norman: Weight loss results in significant improvement in pregnancy and ovulation rates in anovulatory obese women. *Hum Reprod* 10, 2705-2712 (1995)
- 159. S.Z. Yanovski, and J.A. Yanovski: Obesity. *N Engl J Med* 346, 591-602 (2002)

- 160. L. Sjöström, K. Narbo, C.D. Sjöström, K. Karason, B. Larsson, H. Wedel, T. Lystig, M. Sullivan, C. Bouchard, B. Carlsson, C. Bengtsson, S. Dahlgren, A. Gummesson, P. Jacobson, J. Karlsson, A.K. Lindroos, H. Lönroth, I. Näslund, T. Olbers, K. Stenlöf, J. Torgerson, G. Agren, L.M. Carlsson L.M. and Swedish Obese Subjects Study: Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. *N Engl J Med* 357, 741-752 (2007)
- 161. H.F. Escobar-Morreale, J.I. Botella-Carretero, F. Álvarez-Blasco, J. Sancho, and J.L. San Millán: The polycystic ovary syndrome associated with morbid obesity may resolve after weight loss induced by bariatric surgery. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90, 6364-6369 (2005)
- 162. S.M. Nelson and R. Fleming: Obesity and reproduction: impact and interventions. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 19, 384-389 (2007)
- 163. L.F. Martin, K.M. Finigan, and T.E. Nolan: Pregnancy after adjustable gastric binding. *Obstet Gynecol* 95, 927-930 (2000)
- 164. B. Bilenka, I. Ben-Shlomo, C. Cozacov, C.H. Gold, and S. Zohar: Fertility, miscarriage and pregnancy after vertical banded gastroplasty operation for morbid obestity. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 74, 42-44 (1995)
- 165. D. Dewailley, H. Gronier, E. Poncelet, G. Robin, M. Leroy, P. Pigny, A. Duhamel, and S. Catteau-Jonard: Diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): revisting the threshold cause of follicle count on ultrasound and of the serum AMH level for definition of polycystic ovaries. *Hum Reprod* 26, 3123-3129 (2011)
- 166. R. Legro: Obsesity and PCOS: implications for diagnosis and treatment. *Semin Reprod Med* 30, 496-506 (2012)
- 167. H. Fernandez, T.M. Morin-Surruca, A. Torre, E. Faivre, X. Deffieux, and A. Gervaise: Ovarian drilling for surgical treatment of polycystic ovarian syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Reprod Biomed Online* 22, 556-568 (2011)
- 168. L. Saha, S. Kaur, and P.K. Saha: Pharmacotheraphy of polycystic ovary syndrome- an update. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 26, 54-62 (2012)
- 169. E.S. Jungheim and A.O. Odibo: Fertility treatment in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a decision analysis of different oral ovulation induction agents. *Fertil Steril* 94, 2659-2664 (2010)
- **Key Words:** Polycystic ovary syndrome, PCOS, Obesity, Insulin Resistance, Diabetes, Metformin, Review

Current status and future perspective of PCOS

Send Correspondence to: Rajesh K. Naz, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, West Virginia University School of Medicine, Health Sciences Center North, Room 2085, Morgantown, WV, 26506-9186, Tel: 304-293-2554, Fax: 304-293-5757, E-mail: rnaz@hsc.wvu